IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

TRI-FANUCCHI FARMS,) Case No. S227270
Petitioner,) (Fifth District Court of Appeal;) Case No. F069419)
v.	
AGRICULTURAL LABOR)
RELATIONS BOARD,	SUPREME COURT FILED
Respondent,)
and	NOV 17 2015
UNITED FARM WORKERS) Frank A. McGuire Clerk
OF AMERICA,	Deputy
Real Party in Interest.	
	ABOR RELATIONS BOARD'S RIEF ON THE MERITS
	J. ANTONIO BARBOSA, SBN 87829 Executive Secretary
	PAUL M. STARKEY, SBN 109434
	Special Board Counsel
	SCOTT P. INCIARDI, SBN 228814
	Senior Board Counsel
	AGRICULTURAL LABOR
	RELATIONS BOARD 1325 J Street, Suite 1900-B
	Sacramento, CA 95814
DATED: November 16, 2015	Telephone: (916) 653-3741
#1825	Facsimile: (916) 653-8570

INTRODUCTION

In 1975, the California Legislature enacted the Agricultural Labor Relations Act (the "ALRA" or the "Act"). Modeled on the National Labor Relations Act (the "NLRA"), the ALRA establishes collective bargaining rights for California's agricultural employees and governs labor relations in California's agricultural industry. To administer the ALRA, the Legislature established the Agricultural Labor Relations Board (the "ALRB" or the "Board"). The Legislature, following the model set by the National Labor Relations Board (the "NLRB"), established the Board as an agency with unique subject matter expertise in California agricultural labor relations and vested the Board with primary and exclusive jurisdiction over claims involving alleged violations of the Act (known as "unfair labor practices" or "ULP"s) and over the formulation of remedies designed to expunge the effects of such violations.

In establishing the Board as an expert agency with primary and exclusive jurisdiction over unfair labor practices, the Legislature clearly intended that the Board's decisions and orders would be the final word concerning matters within the Board's jurisdiction and that the Board's orders would be subject to narrow and highly limited judicial review. Nowhere is this truer than in the area of shaping remedies for unfair labor practice violations, which has been recognized as a matter uniquely suited

to administrative competence. Accordingly, it is well-established that a remedial order of the Board is subject to a highly deferential standard of review: such an order is not to be disturbed by a reviewing court unless the order represents a patent attempt to achieve ends other than those which can fairly be said to effectuate the policies of the Act. While the reviewing court has the responsibility to interpret the statutory language of the Act and to ensure that the Board acts in accord with the statute, the reviewing court is not to interpose its own judgments for those of the Board with respect to the matters reserved to the Board's discretion.

At issue is the Board's remedial policy choice. The law respecting the reviewing court's limited scope of review over the Board's remedial orders is clear. The Fifth District Court of Appeal (the "Court of Appeal") failed to confine itself to those limits. As a remedy for the unlawful refusal of Petitioner Tri-Fanucchi Farms ("Tri-Fanucchi") to bargain with its employees' certified representative, the Board properly ordered that Tri-Fanucchi should make its employees whole for any loss in wages they suffered as a result of Tri-Fanucchi's unlawful conduct, a remedy known as "bargaining makewhole" or simply "makewhole." Under the ALRA, the Board is specifically vested with the discretion to determine whether makewhole is "appropriate" under all the circumstances, a determination that requires the Board to weigh the public interest in the employer's position against the harm done to employees by the employer's unlawful

conduct. Examination of the Court of Appeal's opinion reversing the Board's remedial determination reveals that the Court of Appeal did not apply, or even cite, the well-established limited standard of review but proceeded to re-weigh the discretionary factors considered by the Board en route to a conclusion that the Board's determinations were "wrong."

Compounding its error, the Court of Appeal proceeded to exercise the discretion that belongs exclusively to the Board to reach its own conclusion as to the appropriateness of the makewhole remedy in this case. Thus, the Court of Appeal, evaluating non-statutory considerations such as the "reasonableness" of Tri-Fanucchi's litigation position and the purported "controversial" nature of the Board's ruling on liability, determined for itself that Tri-Fanucchi's litigation furthered one of the legislative purposes underlying the Act and, therefore, that it was appropriate that makewhole not be awarded as a remedy. The Court of Appeal's failure to adhere to the limited scope of review mandated by the Legislature and controlling judicial precedent could hardly be more obvious.

Finally, even if it had been proper for the Court of Appeal to ignore the proper limited scope of review, its conclusion that Tri-Fanucchi's conduct furthered the policies and purposes of the Act such that makewhole was inappropriate was simply incorrect. The Court of Appeal erred in concluding that stability in agricultural labor relations is furthered by Tri-Fanucchi's advancement of a long-discredited defense, namely, that a union

certification terminates by reason of the certified union's inaction for an undefined period of time, although the represented employees have not elected to remove the union (a theory frequently referred to as the "abandonment" defense). In fact, the Court of Appeal's decision severely disrupts the administrative scheme devised by the Legislature by treating settled Board precedent rejecting the "abandonment" defense as containing no weight. Instead, by treating Board decisions as little more than tentative or draft opinions awaiting plenary de novo review at the appellate level, the Court of Appeal's decision encourages employers to litigate rather than bargain. Furthermore, the Court of Appeal's erroneous analysis improperly focuses exclusively on the purported stabilizing effect of Tri-Fanucchi's litigation without even considering the other public policies affected by Tri-Fanucchi's conduct. Not only are these considerations properly reserved to the Board's primary and exclusive jurisdiction, they lead to the conclusion that the Board's makewhole award in this case was proper.

It is the Board's legislatively assigned role to devise remedies to expunge the effects of unfair labor practices upon agricultural employees, the individuals for whose benefit the Act was created. Tri-Fanucchi committed unfair labor practices, violating its employees' rights by depriving them of the benefits of collective bargaining, including any wage increases that would have resulted from good faith bargaining. The Board, exercising its primary and exclusive jurisdiction over unfair labor practices,

reasonably concluded that the public interest in Tri-Fanucchi's assertion of a long-discredited "abandonment" defense was outweighed by the employees' protected interests in collective bargaining. Not only did the Court of Appeal fail to apply the proper deferential standard of review, it erroneously chose Tri-Fanucchi's interest in litigating an invalid defense over the protected rights of Tri-Fanucchi's employees who have suffered harm through no fault of their own.

For these reasons, and as will be discussed in greater detail below, the Board respectfully submits that this Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's decision.

ISSUES PRESENTED

The issues presented in this appeal are:

- (1) Whether the Court of Appeal exceeded its authority and failed to apply the applicable standard of review by failing to afford deference to the Board's determination that bargaining makewhole was appropriate and by conducting what amounted to a de novo determination of whether makewhole was appropriate;
- (2) Whether the Court of Appeal's conclusion that Tri-Fanucchi's refusal to bargain with the certified representative of its employees furthered the policies and purposes of the ALRA was erroneous.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. STATUTORY BACKGROUND

The ALRA gives California's agricultural employees certain rights. including the right to "bargain collectively through representatives of their own choosing." (Lab. Code, § 1152.) The ALRA authorizes the Board to hold representation elections among agricultural employees and, if the employees vote in favor of representation, to certify a labor organization as an exclusive bargaining representative. (Lab. Code, §§ 1156 & 1156.3.) The ALRA defines certain conduct as "unfair labor practices." (Lab. Code, §§ 1153-1154.) It is an unfair labor practice for an agricultural employer to "refuse to bargain collectively in good faith" with a certified labor organization. (Lab. Code, § 1153, subd. (e).) The Board is authorized to remedy the effects of unfair labor practices, including by "making employees whole, when the board deems such relief appropriate, for the loss of pay resulting from the employer's refusal to bargain." (Lab. Code, § 1160.3 (emphasis added).)

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. The UFW Was Certified in 1977 Whereupon Tri-Fanucchi Refused to Bargain

In 1977, the United Farm Workers of America (the "UFW") was certified as the exclusive bargaining representative of a bargaining unit of agricultural employees employed by Tri-Fanucchi after a secret ballot

election through which those employees voted in favor of such representation. (Joe G. Fanucchi & Sons / Tri-Fanucchi Farms (1986) 12 ALRB No. 8, p. 2.) Tri-Fanucchi immediately refused to bargain with the UFW, claiming that it intended to challenge the conduct of the election through which the UFW had been certified. (Ibid.) However, after the UFW filed an unfair labor practice charge alleging that Tri-Fanucchi was unlawfully refusing to bargain, Tri-Fanucchi agreed to bargain. (Ibid.)

B. Tri-Fanucchi Again Refused to Bargain in 1981 and 1984 Resulting in a 1986 Board Decision Finding Unfair Labor Practice Liability and Awarding Makewhole

After Tri-Fanucchi agreed to bargain, some negotiations between the parties took place. (*Joe G. Fanucchi & Sons / Tri-Fanucchi Farms, supra*, 12 ALRB No. 8, p. 2.) However, in 1981, Tri-Fanucchi again refused to bargain with the UFW, citing the results of a poll it had conducted among its employees, which it claimed showed that a majority of employees no longer wished to be represented by the UFW. (*Id.* at p. 3.) Again, the UFW filed an unfair labor practice charge. (*Ibid.*) Although the Board had recently ruled that employers may not refuse to bargain based upon employee polls, the ALRB regional director dismissed the charge. (*Ibid.*)

Roughly two years later, the UFW requested that collective bargaining negotiations resume. (*Joe G. Fanucchi & Sons / Tri-Fanucchi Farms*, supra, 12 ALRB No. 8, p. 3.) Tri-Fanucchi refused to bargain,

again citing the 1981 poll. (*Ibid.*) The UFW filed a charge and the ALRB's General Counsel issued an unfair labor practice complaint in 1985. (*Ibid.*) Before the Board, Tri-Fanucchi argued, among other things, that it had no bargaining obligation because the UFW had "abandoned" the bargaining unit. The Board rejected this argument, as well as Tri-Fanucchi's other defenses, and found that Tri-Fanucchi's refusal to bargain was unlawful. (*Id.* at pp. 4-9.)

Having determined that Tri-Fanucchi unlawfully refused to bargain, the Board considered whether an award of bargaining makewhole pursuant to Labor Code section 1160.3 was appropriate. (*Joe G. Fanucchi & Sons / Tri-Fanucchi Farms*, *supra*, 12 ALRB No. 8, pp. 9-10). The Board concluded that, given that Tri-Fanucchi's defense was identical to defenses previously rejected by the Board and an appellate court, an award of makewhole was appropriate. (*Ibid.*)

C. The Fifth District Court of Appeal Upheld the Board's 1986 Order Including the Makewhole Award

Tri-Fanucchi petitioned for review of the Board's order in the Fifth District Court of Appeal. (*Tri-Fanucchi Farms v. ALRB* (Nov. 21, 1987, F008776) ([nonpub. opn.])¹ Before the Court of Appeal, Tri-Fanucchi

¹ The Court of Appeal took judicial notice of its prior unpublished decision. (*Tri-Fanucchi Farms v. ALRB* (2015) 236 Cal.App.4th 1079, 1086, fn. 2.) In discussing this decision, consistent with the Rules of Court, (Footnote continued....)

argued, among other things, that two years of inactivity by the UFW established that the UFW had "abandoned the bargaining unit." (Id. at pp. 8-9.) The Court of Appeal rejected this argument, stating that "[u]nion inactivity alone does not mandate a finding of abandonment" and that, under NLRB precedent, because the UFW had recently demanded to bargain, Tri-Fanucchi could not show that the UFW was "unable or unwilling" to represent the employees at the time its status was challenged. (Id. at p. 9 (citing Pioneer Inn Associates v. NLRB (D.C. Cir. 1978) 578 F.2d 835).) Additionally, the court of appeal upheld the Board's makewhole award, concluding that, under the deferential standard of review that applied, and given that Tri-Faucchi's arguments "differed with established federal or state precedent," the Board did not abuse its discretion in awarding makewhole. (Tri-Fanucchi Farms v. ALRB, supra. F008776 at pp. 11-12.)

D. Tri-Fanucchi Once Again Refused to Bargain in 2012, and Again Asserted "Abandonment"

Tri-Fanucchi claims that, in 1988, after the court of appeal decision,
Tri-Fanucchi "indicated its willingness to bargain with the UFW."

(Footnote continued)

the ALRB does not cite this decision as precedent but discusses it as a fact relevant to the case. (Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.115; *Pacific Gas & Electric Co. v. City and County of San Francisco* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 897, 907, fn. 10).)

[CR 92.] Tri-Fanucchi claims that, although the UFW initially stated that it would respond and set a date for negotiations after the UFW's negotiator returned from vacation, the UFW never provided a response. (*Ibid.*) Tri-Fanucchi further contends that it heard nothing from the UFW for the next roughly 24-year period.² (*Ibid.*)

In September 2012, the UFW sent a letter to Tri-Fanucchi in which it invoked its certification and requested collective bargaining negotiations.

[CR 439-440.] Tri-Fanucchi refused to bargain and to provide the requested information, stating in a letter to the UFW that "Tri-Fanucchi maintains that the UFW has . . . abandoned the bargaining unit and is no longer the valid collective bargaining representative." [CR 441.]

III. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. The Charge and the Complaint

On March 7 and April 6, 2013, the UFW filed unfair labor practice charges with the ALRB alleging that Tri-Fanucchi was violating the Act by refusing to bargain and refusing to provide information. [CR 1-6.] On September 5, 2013, the ALRB's General Counsel (the "General Counsel")

² The administrative law judge ("ALJ") who conducted the hearing that led to the Board decision at issue herein decided the case via a dispositive motion. [CR 160; 168-180; 391-393.] Accordingly, the ALJ assumed, for the purpose of the motion, that the facts Tri-Fanucchi sought to prove (*i.e.*, that the UFW was inactive between 1987 and 2012) were true. (*Ibid.*) Accordingly, for the purposes of this case, the Board will, likewise, and for the sake of discussion only, assume those facts to be true.

who is responsible for investigating charges and for issuing and prosecuting unfair labor practice complaints before the Board, issued a "Corrected Consolidated Complaint" (the "Complaint") against Tri-Fanucchi alleging that Tri-Fanucchi unlawfully refused to bargain and provide information.

[CR 7-11.] The Complaint requested that, as a remedy, the Board award makewhole. [CR 11.]

On or about October 8, 2013, Tri-Fanucchi filed an answer to the Complaint (the "Answer"). [CR 91-96.] In the Answer, Tri-Fanucchi substantially admitted the factual allegations against it, including that it refused to bargain with the UFW and refused to provide requested information. [CR 94.] Tri-Fanucchi claimed that its conduct was justified because the UFW lost its certification by "abandoning" the bargaining unit and the UFW's claims were barred under the doctrines of laches and unclean hands. [CR 96.]

B. The Unfair Labor Practice Hearing and the ALJ's Decision

A hearing on the unfair labor practice allegations was scheduled for October 21, 2013, before Administrative Law Judge Thomas Sobel (the "ALJ"). Prior to the hearing, the General Counsel filed a motion in limine with the ALJ, arguing for the exclusion of all evidence relating to Tri-Fanucchi's "abandonment" defense as such a defense is not recognized under established Board precedent. [CR 123-128.] During the hearing, the

ALJ queried Tri-Fanucchi's counsel as to the basis of its "abandonment" defense and Tri-Fanucchi confirmed that its defense was predicated solely upon the allegation that the UFW had been absent between 1988 and 2012. [Tr. 8:6-21; 13:21-14:7.]

The ALJ issued a decision on November 5, 2013.³ The ALJ treated the motion in limine as akin to a demurrer to the answer or motion for judgment on the pleadings, and, accordingly, assumed the truth of the facts Tri-Fanucchi sought to prove, i.e., that the UFW had been inactive between 1988 and 2012. [CR 168-169.] The ALJ concluded that, even assuming the truth of those facts, Tri-Fanucchi could not establish a defense to the refusal to bargain allegations under established ALRB precedent holding that union inactivity or absence does not constitute a defense to a refusal to bargain charge. [CR 169-171.] Having rejected Tri-Fanucchi's defenses, and given that the rejection of the "abandonment" defense was a matter of settled law, the ALJ determined that makewhole was appropriate.

[CR 161.]

³ The decision includes the ALJ's ruling on the motion in limine, which is attached to the decision itself. [CR 158-180.]

⁴ The ALJ also dismissed Tri-Fanucchi's laches and unclean hands defenses, which were wholly predicated on the same set of facts as the "abandonment" defense, to wit: the UFW's alleged inactivity.

C. The Board's Decision

Tri-Fanucchi filed exceptions to the ALJ's decision, including, specifically, to his ruling on the "abandonment" issue and the makewhole award. [CR 181-184.] With respect to the makewhole issue, Tri-Fanucchi argued that its refusal to bargain constituted a "technical refusal to bargain," and that, therefore, the standard set forth in J.R. Norton Co. v. ALRB (1979) 26 Cal.3d 1, which examines the reasonableness and good faith of the employer's conduct (the "J.R. Norton standard"), should apply. [CR. 198-199.] Tri-Fanucchi argued that its own good faith was shown by the fact that it attempted to expedite the processing of the case by offering to present the case to the Board on a stipulated record. [CR 199-200.] Tri-Fanucchi further argued that the UFW and the General Counsel engaged in "dilatory tactics" that thwarted Tri-Fanucchi's efforts to expedite the case. Specifically, Tri-Fanucchi argued that although it expressly refused to bargain in October 2012, the UFW did not file unfair labor practice charges until March and April 2013, the General Counsel did not issue a complaint until August 2013, and that neither the UFW nor the General Counsel would agree to Tri-Fanucchi's proposed stipulated facts. [CR 189; 199-200.1

The Board issued its decision in the case on April 23, 2014.

[CR 388-410.] The Board affirmed the ALJ's rejection of Tri-Fanucchi's defenses. [CR 394-400.] With respect to Tri-Fanucchi's "abandonment"

defense, the Board held that its previous decisions "have been very clear that, under the ALRA, the fact that a labor organization has been inactive or absent, even for an extended period of time, does not represent a defense to the employer's duty to bargain." [CR 395.] This holding, the Board stated, stemmed from the legislative intent that "the power to select and remove unions as bargaining representatives should reside with agricultural employees and not with their employers." (*Ibid.*)

The Board also affirmed the ALJ's award of makewhole. [CR 403-407.] The Board held that, because Tri-Fanucchi was not seeking judicial review of a representation election, the J.R. Norton standard did not apply. Rather, the "F&P Growers standard" applied to the evaluation of the appropriateness of makewhole in the non-technical refusal to bargain setting. [CR 404-405.] (F&P Growers Assoc. (1983) 9 ALRB No. 22, affd. sub nom. F&P Growers Assoc. v. ALRB (1985) 168 Cal.App.3d 667.) Under the F&P Growers standard, the Board is to weigh the public interest in the employer's position against the harm done to employees by the employer's refusal to bargain and, except in cases where the employer's position furthers the policies and purposes of the Act, the employer, and not the employees, should bear the financial risk of the employer's decision to litigate, rather than bargain. (F&P Growers Assoc., supra, 9 ALRB No. 22, pp. 7-8.)

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