IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

TRI-FANUCCHI FARMS,) Case No. S227270
Petitioner,) (Fifth District Court of Appeal;) Case No. F069419)
v.)
AGRICULTURAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD,	SUPREME COURT FILED
Respondent,)) FEB - 1 2016
and	Frank A. McGuire Clerk
UNITED FARM WORKERS OF AMERICA,	Deputy
Real Party in Interest.	,)

AGRICULTURAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

J. ANTONIO BARBOSA, SBN 87829

Executive Secretary

PAUL M. STARKEY, SBN 109434

Special Board Counsel

SCOTT P. INCIARDI, SBN 228814

Senior Board Counsel

AGRICULTURAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 1325 J Street, Suite 1900-B

Sacramento, CA 95814

Telephone: (916) 653-3741

Facsimile: (916) 653-8570

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

Tri-Fanucchi's argument that the Court of Appeal misapplied F&PGrowers and that its inactivity-based defense is not analogous to the "loss of majority support" defense should be rejected. First, as discussed previously, rejection of the loss of majority support defense and rejection of Tri-Fanucchi's inactivity-based defense rest on the same foundation; the Legislature's decision to deprive employers of the ability to interfere with employee choice over representation matters by denying employers "any peripheral participation in deciding whether to bargain with a particular union." (F&P Growers Assoc. v. ALRB, supra, 168 Cal.App.3d 667, 677.) F&P Growers held that, pursuant to this Legislative intent, an employer may not refuse to bargain with a certified labor organization even if it receives evidence that a majority of its employees no longer desire representation by the organization. (Id. at pp. 676-679.) It follows. a fortiori, that an employer may not interfere in the representation process merely because it believes that a labor organization has "abandoned" the bargaining unit. In both types of cases, the fundamental principle is that, if employees wish to remove an unwanted or ineffective labor organization, their remedy is to utilize the decertification process. As the Court of Appeal correctly stated, "So long as the employees can petition for a new election if they wish to remove the union, the employer has no real cause for concern about whether it is bargaining with the true representative of its employees." (Tri-Fanucchi Farms v. ALRB, supra, 236 Cal.App.4th 1079, 1092 (quoting Montebello Rose Co. v. ALRB, supra, 119 Cal.App.3d 1, 28).)

In fact, the Court of Appeal actually understated the impact of the rejection of the loss of majority support defense. Several Board decisions have recognized that, under NLRB precedent (which Tri-Fanucchi claims should apply), evidence of labor organization "abandonment" is merely a component of the broader loss of majority support inquiry. (See e.g. Dole Fresh Fruit, Inc., supra, 22 ALRB No. 4, p. 10 ("a claim of abandonment is but one possible factor to be considered in determining whether there has been a loss of majority support.") Indeed, in its opening brief before the Court of Appeal, Tri-Fanucchi conceded this point, stating that "abandonment is a narrow theory within the broader area of good faith doubt " (Petitioner's Opening Brief to the Court of Appeal at p. 15.) Having made this concession, Tri-Fanucchi can hardly contend that the Court of Appeal erred in finding that the rationale of F & PGrowers v. ALRB supports the rejection of Tri-Fanucchi's "abandonment" defense. As the ALJ in this case cogently stated, "[Tri-Fanucchi's] argument essentially reduces to the proposition that, even though a court has rejected the whole of the [loss of majority support] defense, it did not reject a part of it." [CR 173 (bracketed material added).]

D. This Court's Decision in *Englund v. Chavez* Does Not Support Tri-Fanucchi's Position

Tri-Fanucchi erroneously argues that this Court's decision in *Englund v*.

Chavez (1972) 8 Cal.3d 572 supports its position when, in fact, the opposite is true. Englund v. Chavez predated the ALRA and dealt with the issue of whether

an employer could recognize a labor organization it knew did not enjoy the support of a majority of employees and then seek injunctive relief against the organizational activities of a rival labor organization under California's Jurisdictional Strike Act (Lab. Code, § 1115 et seq.). The Jurisdictional Strike Act allows employers to enjoin strike activity arising out of claims by competing labor organizations as to which of them is entitled to recognition as bargaining agent. (Englund v. Chavez, supra, 8 Cal.3d. 572, 585.) This Court held that the Jurisdictional Strike Act was designed to be a defensive measure that could be taken by an employer caught between the conflicting demands of competing labor organizations. (Id. at pp. 585-586.) It was not intended to be used as a means for an employer to recognize a favored union and enjoin competing activity by a disfavored union. (Ibid.) For this reason, injunctive relief was not available where the employer engaged in "interference" with a labor organization by recognizing it when it did not enjoy majority support. (Id. at p. 597.)

Tri-Fanucchi claims that the holding of *Englund v. Chavez* supports its position. In fact, it supports the Board's order. This Court's discussion of the intent behind the Jurisdictional Strike Act reveals another example of the Legislature's concern that employers would use their economic power over employees to impose their choice as to representation without any input from employees. As discussed, when the Legislature enacted the ALRA, this concern led the Legislature to forbid voluntary recognition and other forms of employer involvement in the certification and decertification processes. (See *Harry*

Carian Sales v. ALRB (1985) 39 Cal.3d 209, 225-226.) In order to prevent the kind of interference discussed in Englund v. Chavez, under the ALRA, matters of representation are to be decided by employees through the ballot box.

E. Tri-Fanucchi's Attempt to Import Principles Developed Outside the Context of Labor Organization Certification and Decertification Should Be Rejected

Perhaps owing to the fact that the precedent interpreting the ALRA does not support its position, Tri-Fanucchi cites cases and statutes in unrelated fields of law in an attempt to bolster its arguments. These attempts fail. Tri-Fanucchi argues that it must be allowed to withdraw recognition from the UFW because in certain other areas of the law, parties may forfeit rights under certain circumstances. Tri-Fanucchi cites the examples of statutes allowing for "adverse possession" of property and dismissal of civil actions for failure to prosecute. (See Pet. Op. Br. p. 44 (citing Cal. Code Civ. Proc. §§ 321 & 583.420).)

The ALRA is a comprehensive statutory scheme governing agricultural labor law in California, subject to considerations unique to the legal and factual setting in which it is placed. (J.R. Norton Co., Inc. v. ALRB (1979) 26 Cal.3d 1, 8; United States v. Palumbo Bros. (7th Cir. 1998) 145 F.3d 850, 861 ("The NLRA is a comprehensive code that regulates the unique labor-management relationship . . .").) It would be inappropriate to blithely incorporate legal

precedent arising out of wholly distinct areas of law, as Tri-Fanucchi suggests. ²²

None of the areas of law cited by Tri-Fanucchi feature a system such as exists under the ALRA where a class of individuals is given the exclusive collective right to designate bargaining representatives and to terminate such representation. Furthermore, those areas do not feature concerns that underlie the provisions of the ALRA, such as the vulnerability of agricultural employees to coercive interference by their employers, a problem the Legislature sought to address by eliminating the kinds of interference Tri-Fanucchi seeks to impose.

Tri-Fanucchi further argues that California law recognizes that private contracts may be "abandoned" by the mutual assent of the contracting parties.

Of course, the bargaining relationship between an employer and a certified union is fundamentally different than the relationship between two contracting parties. Furthermore, the circumstances under which a labor organization may voluntarily relinquish its certification under the ALRA have been defined.

Absent decertification, such a relinquishment occurs only when the labor organization disclaims interest and such a disclaimer can only be accomplished through an unequivocal statement by the labor organization. (Arnaudo Brothers,

²² In both the areas of law cited by Tri-Fanucchi, the Legislature enacted statutes defining the circumstances under which forfeitures would occur, but the Legislature has declined to enact a statute permitting inactivity-based withdrawal of recognition under the ALRA.

LP, supra, 40 ALRB No. 3, p. 13-14.) Mere inaction by the labor organization does not constitute a disclaimer of interest.²³ (*Ibid*.)

Tri-Fanucchi also cites cases involving franchises granted by the state to public utilities. (County of Los Angeles v. Southern California Telephone Co. (1948) 32 Cal.2d 378; County of Kern v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co. (1980) 108 Cal.App.3d 418.) Those cases featured franchises that were granted by the state to utility companies, which allowed the companies to use public land in exchange for the companies' provision of utility services. The cases held that the franchises were of indefinite duration, but that it was reasonable to imply that they continued only for so long as the companies continued to provide the agreed-upon utility services. It was held that such franchises were in the nature of a contract between the state and the companies, in which the state received services in exchange for the franchise. (County of Los Angeles v. Southern California Telephone Co., supra, 32 Cal.2d 378, 384.) This scenario bears little, if any, resemblance to a state law or administrative precedent governing the circumstances under which employees may designate and remove agents to collectively bargain on their behalf. Furthermore, in the ALRA, the Legislature defined the manner in which a labor organization's right to represent employees

²³ The Board found that Tri-Fanucchi did not assert in its administrative answer that the UFW disclaimed interest and that, even if it had preserved the issue, no disclaimer had been shown. [CR 401-402.] Tri-Fanucchi does not challenge these aspects of the Board's decision before this Court.

may arise and be terminated: certification and decertification under the processes of the Act. The cases cited by Tri-Fanucchi offer no guidance on this issue.

Finally, Tri-Fanucchi cites cases such as Steele v. Louisville & Nashville Railroad Co. (1944) 323 U.S. 192 and James v. Marinship Corp. (1944) 25 Cal.2d 721. Those cases (which long predate the ALRA) discuss the duty of a certified labor organization to refrain from engaging in hostile discrimination against a minority of represented employees (such as a minority racial/ethnic group). No such claim has been made with respect to the UFW's conduct in this case. Furthermore, there is nothing in the ALRA's requirement that representation decisions be made by employees free from interference by their employers that is inconsistent with the principle that certified labor organizations have a duty to refrain from engaging in invidious discrimination against a minority group.

F. The Board Did Not Exceed its Legislatively Granted Authority

Tri-Fanucchi argues that the Board's decision exceeded the scope of the authority granted to the Board by the Legislature. In fact, the Board's decision is completely consistent with the Act and the underlying legislative intent. The

To the extent that Tri-Fanucchi might claim that the UFW's conduct violated the duty of fair representation, and to the extent that Tri-Fanucchi would even have standing to assert such a claim, it was not raised before the Board or the Court of Appeal and, therefore, could not be raised before this Court. (*Lindeleaf v. ALRB* (1986) 41 Cal.3d 861, 869-870.)

abundant support for the Board's decision in the legislature's express statements of intent, the provisions of the ALRA, and the case law interpreting the Act have has been discussed above. Those same factors require the rejection of Tri-Fanucchi's claim that the Board exceeded its authority in rejecting Tri-Fanucchi's defense.

G. Even if the Board had Applied the NLRB Law that Tri-Fanucchi Claims Should Have Applied, its Defense Would Have Been Rejected

Tri-Fanucchi claims that the Board should have applied NLRB precedent in deciding its case. It does not, however, cite the NLRB authority it claims the Board should have followed.²⁵ In fact, as discussed previously, the NLRB regards labor organization inactivity as a factor to be considered in the broader loss of majority support analysis, an analysis which, as shown, is inapplicable to the ALRA. (*Dole Fresh Fruit, supra*, 22 ALRB No. 4, p. 10.)

Moreover, even if NLRB precedent were to be applied, Tri-Fanucchi's claim would necessarily fail because the NLRB has held that, to the extent that evidence of a period of union activity may be relied upon in a defense to the duty

²⁵ If Tri-Fanucchi would have this Court hold that the Board failed to follow NLRA precedent, it should, at the very least, be required to identify the precedent it claims the Board should have followed. The fact that it has not done so should be viewed as fatal to its claim. Indeed, because Tri-Fanucchi also failed to cite any such precedent before the Board, this argument was waived. (*Lindeleaf v. ALRB, supra,* 41 Cal.3d 861, 869-870 ("a petitioner is deemed to waive any objections that could have been raised before the ALRB").)

to bargain, the labor organization may 'cure' a period of inactivity by reasserting its bargaining rights, after which any evidence of inactivity becomes irrelevant as a matter of law. Thus, in Spillman Co. (1995) 311 NLRB 95, the labor organization reasserted its bargaining rights after a period of inactivity. After this reassertion, the employer withdrew recognition, citing the labor organization's prior inactivity. (Id. at p. 97.) The NLRB rejected the employer's claim finding that "the Union's reassertion of its bargaining rights . . . negated any inference to be drawn from the preceding period of inactivity." (Id. at pp. 95-96.) Likewise, in *Pioneer Inn Associates* (1977) 228 NLRB 1263, 1264, the NLRB held that, to defeat a claim that a labor organization has become defunct through a period of inactivity, the organization "need only show that it is willing and able to represent the covered employees at the time its status is called into question." The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal upheld the NLRB's decision. (Pioneer Inn Associates v. NLRB (9th Cir. 1978) 578 F.2d 835, 839-840.) (See also Whisper Soft Mills, Inc. v. NLRB (9th Cir. 1985) 754 F.2d 1381, 1387 ("An employer may rebut that presumption [of majority support], so as to withdraw recognition, by presenting evidence of a sufficient objective basis for a reasonable doubt of the union's majority status at the time the employer refused to bargain.) (bracketed material added).) The ALRB itself has held that, even if it were to apply NLRB law on abandonment, once a previously inactive labor organization reasserts its bargaining rights, an abandonment defense becomes an impossibility. (Ventura County Fruit Growers, Inc., supra, 10 ALRB No. 45 at

pp. 7-8; Dole Fresh Fruit Co., Inc., supra, 22 ALRB No. 4 at p. 8; Arnaudo Bros., LP, supra, 40 ALRB No. 3 at p. 12, fn. 3).).

CONCLUSION

In reviewing the Board's decision in this case, the Court of Appeal was required to uphold the decision provided that the Board's holding on Tri-Fanucchi's inactivity-based defense to the refusal to bargain allegations represented a reasonable interpretation of the ALRA. As found by the Court of Appeal and as shown herein, the Board's decision easily meets this standard, particularly in light of the deference owed to the Board concerning interpretation of the ALRA. The Board's decision furthers the legislative goals of protecting the right of employees to make representation decisions free of employer interference, as reflected in the provisions of the ALRA relating to the representation process. It is consistent with the continuing nature of certification and the duty to bargain under the ALRA and the Board's judicially approved "certified until decertified" rule. It is also consistent with the Board's judicially approved rejection of the "loss of majority support" defense as inconsistent with the purposes of the ALRA.

Tri-Fanucchi has failed to establish that the Board's decision was not a reasonable interpretation of the Act or was otherwise improper.

Accordingly, for the reasons stated herein, Respondent Agricultural Labor

Relations Board respectfully submits that Petitioner Tri-Fanucchi Farms' petition for review should be denied.